S.C.C. FILE NO. 40348

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CANADA

(ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEAL FOR ONTARIO)

BETWEEN:

UMMUGULSUM YATAR

APPELLANT

- and -

TD INSURANCE MELOCHE MONNEX and LICENCE APPEAL TRIBUNAL

RESPONDENTS

– and –

ATTORNEY GENERAL OF CANADA, ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ONTARIO, ATTORNEY GENERAL OF QUEBEC, ATTORNEY GENERAL OF BRITISH COLUMBIA, ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ALBERTA, INCOME SECURITY ADVOCACY CENTRE, ADVOCACY CENTRE FOR TENANTS ONTARIO, CANADIAN TELECOMMUNICATIONS ASSOCIATION, INSURANCE BUREAU OF CANADA, FOREST APPEALS COMMISSION, ABORIGINAL COUNCIL OF WINNIPEG, INC. AND SOCIAL PLANNING COUNCIL OF WINNIPEG

INTERVENERS

FACTUM OF THE INTERVENER (INCOME SECURITY ADVOCACY CENTRE)

(Pursuant to Rules 42 of the Rules of the Supreme Court of Canada, S.O.R./2002-156)

INCOME SECURITY ADVOCACY CENTRE

1500 - 55 University Ave. Toronto, ON M5J 2H7

Nabila F. Qureshi Anu Bakshi

Tel: (416) 597-5820 Ext: 5156

Fax: (416) 597-5821

Email: nabila.qureshi@isac.clcj.ca

anu.bakshi@isac.clcj.ca

SUPREME ADVOCACY LLP

340 Gilmour Street, Suite 100 Ottawa, ON K2P 0R3

Marie-France Major

Tel: (613) 695-8855 Ext: 102

Fax: (613) 695-8580

Email: mfmajor@supremeadvocacy.ca

Agent for Counsel for the Intervener, Income Security Advocacy Centre

CLINIC RESOURCE OFFICE - LEGAL AID ONTARIO

730-20 Dundas Street West Toronto, ON, M5G 2H1

Anna Rosenbluth

Tel: (416) 225-4529 Fax: (416) 204-5420 Email: rosenba@lao.on.ca

Counsel for the Intervener, Income Security Advocacy Centre

DEWART GLEASON LLP

106-366 Adelaide Street West Toronto, ON M5V 1R9

Sean Dewart Tim Gleason Ian McKellar

Tel: 416-971-8000 Fax: 416-971-8001

Email: sdewart@dgllp.ca

tgleason@dgllp.ca imckellar@dgllp.ca

Counsel for the Appellant

MCCARTHY TÉTRAULT LLP

Suite 5300, Toronto Dominion Bank Tower 66 Wellington Street West Toronto, ON M5K 1E6

Christine Lonsdale Adam Goldenberg Erin Chesney

Tel.: (416) 601-8019 Fax: (416) 868-0673

Email: clonsdale@mccarthy.ca

agoldenberg@mccarthy.ca echesney@mccarthy.ca

Counsel for the Respondent, TD Insurance Meloche Monnex

SUPREME LAW GROUP

1800-275 Slater Street Ottawa, ON K1P 5H9

Moira Dillon

Tel: (613) 691-1224 Fax: (613) 691-1338

Email: mdillon@supremelawgroup.ca

Agent for Counsel for the Appellant

LICENCE APPEAL TRIBUNAL

Legal Services Unit 77 Wellesley Street West Toronto, ON M5G 2C2

Valerie Crystal Brian Blumenthal

Tel: (416) 662-8257 Fax: (416) 326-2851

Email: valerie.crystal@ontario.ca

brian.blumenthal@ontario.ca

Counsel for the Respondent, Licence Appeal Tribunal

ATTORNEY GENERAL OF CANADA

120 Adelaide Street West, Suite 400 Toronto, ON M5H 1T1

John Provart Michelle Kellam

Tel: (647) 256-0784 Fax: (416) 954-8982

Email: john.provart@justice.gc.ca

Counsel for the Intervener, Attorney General of Canada

MINISTRY OF ATTORNEY GENERAL (ON)

Crown Law Office - Civil 720 Bay Street, 8th Floor Toronto, ON M7A 2S9

Michael J. Sims Matthew Chung

Tel: (416) 420-4983 Fax: (416) 326-4181

Email: michael.sims@ontario.ca

Counsel for the Intervener, Attorney General of Ontario

BORDEN LADNER GERVAIS LLP

World Exchange Plaza 1300-100 Queen Street Ottawa, ON K1P 1J9

Nadia Effendi

Tel: (613) 787-3562 Fax: (613) 230-8842 Email: neffendi@blg.com

Agent for Counsel for the Respondent, Licence Appeal Tribunal

ATTORNEY GENERAL OF CANADA

Department of Justice Canada 50 O'Connor Street, Suite 500, room 557 Ottawa, ON K1A 0H8

Christopher M. Rupar

Tel: (613) 670-6290 Fax: (613) 954-1920

Email: christopher.rupar@justice.gc.ca

Agent for Counsel for the Intervener, Attorney General of Canada

BORDEN LADNER GERVAIS LLP

World Exchange Plaza 100 Queen Street, suite 1300 Ottawa, ON K1P 1J9

Nadia Effendi

Tel: (613) 787-3562 Fax: (613) 230-8842 Email: neffendi@blg.com

Agent for Counsel for the Intervener, Attorney General of Ontario

PROCUREUR GÉNÉRAL DU QUÉBEC

1200, Route de l'Église, 8e étage Québec, QC G1V 4M1

Stéphane Rochette Francesca Boucher

Tel: (418) 643-6552 Ext: 20734

Fax: (418) 643-9749

Email: stephane.rochette@justice.gouv.qc.ca

Counsel for the Intervener, Attorney General of Quebec

MINISTRY OF ATTORNEY GENERAL (BC)

Legal Services Branch 1301 - 865 Hornby Street Vancouver, BC V6Z 2G3

Meera Bennett Katherine Reilly

Tel: (604) 660-6793 Fax: (604) 660-6797

Email: Meera.Bennett@gov.bc.ca

Counsel for the Intervener, Attorney General of British Columbia

ALBERTA JUSTICE

Constitutional And Aboriginal Law Team 10025-102A Avenue, 10th Floor, 102A Tower Edmonton, AB T5J 2Z2

Michael Wall Adam Ollenberger Jessica Fleming

Tel: (780) 415-4735 Fax: (780) 643-0852 Email: mick.wall@gov.ab.ca

Counsel for the Intervener, Attorney General of Alberta

NOËL ET ASSOCIÉS, s.e.n.c.r.l.

225, montée Paiement, 2e étage Gatineau, QC J8P 6M7

Sylvie Labbé

Tel: (819) 503-2174 Fax: (819) 771-5397

Email: s.labbe@noelassocies.com

Agent for Counsel for the Intervener, Attorney General of Quebec

JURISTES POWER LAW

50 O'Connor Street Suite 1313 Ottawa, ON K1P 6L2

Maxine Vincelette

Tel: (613) 702-5573 Fax: (613) 702-5573

Email: mvincelette@powerlaw.ca

Agent for Counsel for the Intervener, Attorney General of British Columbia

GOWLING WLG (Canada) LLP

160 Elgin Street Suite 2600 Ottawa, ON K1P 1C3

D. Lynne Watt

Tel: (613) 786-8695 Fax: (613) 563-9869

Email: lynne.watt@gowlingwlg.com

Agent for Counsel for the Intervener, Attorney General of Alberta

ADVOCACY CENTRE FOR TENANTS ONTARIO

55 University Avenue, Unit 1500 Toronto, ON M5J 2H7

Ryan Hardy

Tel: (416) 597-5855

Email: ryan.hardy@acto.clcj.ca

Counsel for the Intervener, Advocacy Centre for Tenants Ontario

PAUL DALY LAW PC

127 Southern Drive Ottawa, ON K1N 6N5

Paul Daly

Tel: (343) 987-0733 Fax: (613) 562-5124

Email: paul.daly@uottawa.ca

Counsel for the Intervener, Canadian Telecommunications Association

LENCZNER SLAGHT LLP

130 Adelaide Street West, Suite 2600 Toronto, ON M5H 3P5

Nina Bombier Nikolas De Stefano

Tel: (416) 865-3052 Fax: (416) 865-9010

Email: nbombier@litigate.com

Counsel for the Intervener, Insurance Bureau of Canada

SUPREME ADVOCACY LLP

340 Gilmour Street, Suite 100 Ottawa, ON K2P 0R3

Marie-France Major

Tel: (613) 695-8855 Ext: 102

Fax: (613) 695-8580

Email: mfmajor@supremeadvocacy.ca

Agent for Counsel for the Intervener, Advocacy Centre for Tenants Ontario

JURISTES POWER LAW

50 O'Connor Street Suite 1313 Ottawa, ON K1P 6L2

Maxine Vincelette

Tel: (613) 702-5573 Fax: (613) 702-5573

Email: mvincelette@powerlaw.ca

Agent for Counsel for the Intervener, Insurance Bureau of Canada

ARVAY FINLAY LLP

360 – 1070 Douglas Street Victoria, BC V8W 2C4

Robin J. Gage Julia W. Riddle

Tel: (778) 557-2405

Email: rgage@arvayfinlay.ca jriddle@arvayfinlay.ca

Counsel for the Intervener, Forest Appeals Commission

PUBLIC INTEREST LAW CENTRE

100 - 287 Broadway Winnipeg, MB R3C 0R9

Allison Fenske Natalie Copps

Tel: (204) 985-8545 Fax: (204) 985-8544 Email: alfen@legalaid.mb.ca

Counsel for the Intervener, Aboriginal Council of Winnipeg, Inc. and Social Planning Council of Winnipeg

SUPREME ADVOCACY LLP

100-340 Gilmour Street Ottawa, ON K2P 0R3

Marie-France Major

Tel: (613) 695-8855 Fax: (613) 695-8580

Email: mfmajor@supremeadvocacy.ca

Agent for Counsel for the Intervener, Forest Appeals Commission

JURISTES POWER

50, O'Connor Street, Suite 1313 Ottawa, ON K1P 6B9

Darius Bossé

Tel: (613) 702-5566 Fax: (613) 702-5566

Email: DBosse@juristespower.ca

Agent for Counsel for the Intervener, Aboriginal Council of Winnipeg, Inc. and Social Planning Council of Winnipeg

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I – OVERVIEW AND STATEMENT OF FACTS	1
PART II – STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS IN ISSUE	2
PART III – STATEMENT OF ARGUMENT	2
A. A limited right of appeal on questions of law does not indicate a legislative intent to restrict access to judicial review	2
The Court of Appeal's new discretionary bar is based entirely on presumed legislative intent	2
Legislative intent to restrict judicial review must be assessed in accordance with existing principles of statutory interpretation	4
B. Restricting judicial review of non-appealable decisions will detrimentally impact Ontario social assistance recipients in a manner inconsistent with the principle of responsive justification	6
Decisions of the Tribunal concerning questions of fact or mixed fact and law	7
Non-appealable decisions	9
C. Conclusion	10
PART IV – COSTS	10
PART V – ORDERS SOUGHT	10
PART VI – TABLE OF AUTHORITIES	11

PART I — OVERVIEW AND STATEMENT OF FACTS

- 1. Poor and vulnerable persons are regularly subject to administrative decisions with serious consequences on their lives. They need meaningful access to judicial review of those decisions where appeal routes are not available. This appeal concerns whether a limited statutory right of appeal on questions of law ousts the right to judicial review except in "rare cases." A statutory right to appeal on questions of law demonstrates "the legislature's choice of a more involved role for the courts in supervising administrative decision making." It does not demonstrate legislative intent that decisions raising other questions be presumptively insulated from judicial scrutiny except in "rare" cases, and therefore not subject to the same requirements for transparency, justification, and intelligibility. Decisions with harsh consequences for the most vulnerable must be transparent, intelligible, and justified to the individuals they impact. In that sense, they must be consistent with the principle of "responsive justification" articulated by this Court in *Vavilov*.²
- 2. The Income Security Advocacy Centre (ISAC) is a specialty legal clinic funded by Legal Aid Ontario to advance the rights, interests and systemic concerns of low-income Ontarians with respect to income security and employment law. Social assistance schemes are central to ISAC's work. How this Court decides this appeal will impact Ontario social assistance recipients because social assistance legislation, like the legislation governing the Licence Appeal Tribunal, provides a statutory right of appeal that is restricted to questions of law.³
- 3. The Court of Appeal's new bar to judicial review, if affirmed, would have a detrimental impact on social assistance recipients in Ontario because it would impact their ability to challenge decisions about their basic health, survival, and dignity. Social assistance recipients live in deep poverty and social assistance is their "last resort". They have unmet housing and health needs and live with chronic food insecurity. Individuals who disagree with a decision about their eligibility for these "last resort" benefits, but who have no right of appeal, need meaningful access to judicial

¹ Canada (Minister of Citizenship and Immigration) v. Vavilov, <u>2019 SCC 65</u> ("Vavilov") at para. 46.

 $[\]frac{1}{2}$ Ibid.

³ Ontario Works Act, 1997, S.O. 1997, c. 25, Sched. A ("OWA"), s. <u>36</u>(1): "The Director and any party to a hearing may appeal the Tribunal's decision to the Divisional Court on a question of law"; Ontario Disability Support Program Act, 1997, S.O. 1997, c. 25, Sched. B ("ODSPA"), s. <u>31</u>(1): "Any party to a hearing before the Tribunal may appeal the Tribunal's decision to the Divisional Court on a question of law."

review. Social assistance recipients are often self-represented and requiring them to establish that their circumstances are sufficiently "rare" makes judicial review even more inaccessible for self-represented persons attempting to navigate the legal system to pursue subsistence income.

4. Judicial review is always discretionary. ISAC does not argue for an automatic right to judicial review. However, restricting availability of judicial review to "rare circumstances" in the face of limited appeal rights goes too far in narrowing access to a vital mechanism for vulnerable persons. Such an approach is not necessary. There are numerous well-established discretionary bars to judicial review, and these are sufficient for courts to refuse relief where necessary.

PART II - STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS IN ISSUE

- 5. ISAC makes submissions on two issues:
 - a. A limited right of appeal does not indicate a legislative intent to restrict access to judicial review for non-appealable decisions.
 - b. Restricting judicial review of non-appealable decisions would detrimentally impact social assistance recipients in Ontario in a manner that is inconsistent with the principle of responsive justification.

PART III - STATEMENT OF ARGUMENT

A. A limited right of appeal on questions of law does not indicate a legislative intent to restrict access to judicial review.

The Court of Appeal's new discretionary bar is based entirely on presumed legislative intent

- 6. The Court of Appeal interpreted a limited appeal clause to signify legislative intent to "greatly restrict resort to the courts". Contrary to LAT's submission, this is a <u>new</u> bar. ⁵
- 7. Judicial review is discretionary, but courts' discretion to conduct judicial review must be exercised in accordance with the two principles underlying judicial review: maintaining the rule of law while respecting legislative intent.⁶ In this sense, the new discretionary bar set by the Court of Appeal is different from existing discretionary bars in that it is based <u>solely</u> on presumed legislative intent. In contrast, existing bars are connected to the rule of law. They exist to further the interests of justice by: promoting efficient dispute resolution (discretionary bars of

-

⁴ Yatar v. TD Insurance Meloche Monnex, 2022 ONCA 446 at para. 38.

⁵ Factum of Licence Appeal Tribunal, beginning at p. 11, para. 31.

⁶ Vavilov, at para 2.

prematurity,⁷ mootness,⁸ and adequate alternative remedy⁹); preventing abuse of process (discretionary bars of delay,¹⁰ waiver/misconduct¹¹); and ensuring that judicial intervention does not do more harm than good (discretion to refuse relief based on a balance of convenience¹²).

- 8. The Court of Appeal framed its reasoning in relation to the existing discretionary bar of adequate alternative remedy,¹³ rather than purporting to create a new discretionary bar. However, this frame does not fit. As recognized by the Manitoba Court of Appeal in *Smith v. The Appeal Commission*,¹⁴ a statutory appeal offers no alternative remedy at all with respect to an issue that cannot be appealed.¹⁵ This Court stated in *Strickland* that "the question is not simply whether some other remedy is adequate, but also whether judicial review is appropriate".¹⁶ However, the secondary consideration of whether "judicial review is appropriate" can only make another remedy "adequate" if another remedy is available to begin with.
- 9. Further, access to internal reconsideration cannot be an adequate alternative remedy if, as in the decision under appeal, it is the reconsideration decision itself that is the subject of the application for judicial review. And, in any event, a blanket presumption that reconsideration constitutes an adequate alternative remedy is not appropriate. Courts must consider the nature and effectiveness of the recourse in the particular context. In the Ontario social assistance context, for example, the Social Benefits Tribunal often issues standard reasons in response to requests for reconsideration, regardless of the grounds set out in a particular request. ¹⁷ In this context, it should not be assumed that reconsideration is an adequate alternative remedy to judicial review.

⁷ Halifax (Regional Municipality) v. Nova Scotia (Human Rights Commission), <u>2012 SCC 10</u> at paras. <u>35-36</u>.

⁸ Borowski v. Canada (Attorney General), 1989 CanLII 123 (SCC), [1989] 1 SCR 342.

⁹ Strickland v. Canada (Attorney General), <u>2015 SCC 37</u> ("Strickland").

¹⁰ Immeubles Port Louis Ltée v. Lafontaine (Village),1991 CanLII 82, [1991]S.C.J.No. 14.

¹¹ Homex Realty & Development Co v. Wyoming (Village), [1980] 2 S.C.R. 1011, <u>1980 CanLII</u> <u>55</u> (SCC).

¹² Mining Watch Canada v. Canada (Fisheries and Oceans), 2010 SCC 2.

¹³ Yatar v. TD Insurance Meloche Monnex, <u>2022 ONCA 446</u> at paras. <u>37</u>, <u>45</u>.

¹⁴ Smith v. The Appeal Commission, <u>2023 MBCA 23</u>.

¹⁵ *Ibid* at paras. $\underline{5}$ and $\underline{70}$.

¹⁶ Strickland, supra, at para. <u>43</u>.

¹⁷ See *SBT 2208-03391R* (5 May 2023; Van Delft) and *SBT 2205-01952R* (8 June 2023; Henrie), at Tabs 2 and 4 of ISAC's Book of Authorities, both where requests for reconsideration were

<u>Legislative intent to restrict judicial review must be assessed in accordance with existing principles of statutory interpretation</u>

10. This Court has already recognized that a limited right of appeal indicates legislative intent that appealable questions be subjected to a higher level of scrutiny and does not demonstrate intent to restrict scrutiny of questions that cannot be appealed. As Côté and Brown JJ. stated in *Edmonton* (*City*) v. *Edmonton East*¹⁸ in reasoning that was subsequently adopted by the majority of this Court in *Vaviloy*¹⁹:

[78] The legislature must have known that judicial review is available for any question not covered by a limited right of appeal [citations omitted], given that the legislature is presumed to know the law: [citations omitted]. The legislature only designated some questions to be the subject of this right of appeal, thereby signalling its intention that these important questions of law and jurisdiction be treated differently from all other questions which are subject to ordinary judicial review. These issues, after all, transcend the particular context of a disputed assessment and have broader implications for the municipal assessment regime. ...

- 11. The Manitoba Court of Appeal, too, has rejected the argument that permitting appeal on some questions demonstrates legislative intent to extinguish judicial review of other questions. In *Smith v The Appeal Commission*,²⁰ the Court held that such an inference would defeat the clear language of *Vavilov*, which affirmed that limited statutory appeal rights do not restrict judicial review of decisions to which the appeal mechanism does not apply.²¹
- 12. This reasoning is consistent with the principles of statutory interpretation whereas the Court of Appeal's reasoning is not. When text, context and purpose are taken into consideration, a limited right of appeal clause that makes no reference to judicial review cannot be interpreted as reflecting legislative intent to restrict judicial review of non-appealable issues:
 - a. <u>Text</u>: Where a statute limits the right of appeal but contains no text restricting access to judicial review, presuming legislative intent to restrict judicial review in addition to appeal

denied by way of form letter referencing the "oral evidence" in a context where there was no oral evidence because the appellant missed their hearing. The decisions under reconsideration, which dismiss the underlying appeals in absentia, are at Tabs 1 and 3 of the Book of Authorities.

¹⁸ Edmonton (City) v. Edmonton East, 2016 SCC 47 at para 78.

¹⁹ *Vavilov*, *supra*, at paras. <u>36</u>-37, 45-<u>46</u>.

²⁰ Smith v. The Appeal Commission, 2023 MBCA 23.

²¹ *Ibid*, at para. $\underline{59}$; *Vavilov*, *supra* at paras. $\underline{45}$ -46 and $\underline{52}$.

requires reading language into the text that is not there. A plain reading of such clauses indicates legislative intent for judicial scrutiny on a more probing correctness standard where questions of law are engaged.²² It says nothing about access to judicial review for those questions that cannot be appealed. Where a legislature wishes to restrict judicial oversight, it legislates a privative clause or a highly deferential standard of review.²³ Counter-intuitively, the Court of Appeal's interpretation leaves individuals subject to decisions under schemes with limited rights of appeal with <u>less judicial</u> oversight than where the legislature explicitly restricts all review of tribunal decisions by way of a full privative clause.

b. <u>Context</u>: When assessing legislative intent, courts should consider the statutory interpretation principle of presumed knowledge: that the legislature has vast knowledge of the law and it intends the legal effect of its provisions. A legislature creating an appeal clause must be presumed to be aware that "judicial review is available for any question not covered by a limited right of appeal". Further, in Ontario, s. 2(1) of the *Judicial Review Procedure Act*²⁵ ("*JRPA*") permits courts to conduct judicial review "despite any right of appeal." Where an Ontario statute contains appeal-limiting provisions that post-date the enactment of the *Judicial Review Procedure Act*, the legislature can be presumed to have been aware of section 2(1) at that time and to have intended that judicial review be available where appeal was not. Courts should also consider the statutory interpretation principle of presumption against interference. In order to adversely affect an individual's right, the Legislature must do so expressly. As this Court stated in *Morguard Properties Ltd. v. City of Winnipeg*²⁷:

In more modern terminology the courts require that, in order to adversely affect a citizen's right, ... the Legislature must do so expressly. Truncation of such rights may be legislatively unintended or even accidental, but the courts must look for express language in the statute before concluding that these rights have been reduced. This principle of construction becomes even more important and more generally operative in modern times because the Legislature is guided and assisted by a well-staffed and ordinarily very articulate Executive. The resources at hand in the preparation and enactment of legislation are such that a court must be slow to presume oversight or inarticulate intentions when the rights of the citizen are involved. The Legislature has complete control of the process of

²⁷ *Ibid*.

²² Smith v. The Appeal Commission, 2023 MBCA 23 at paras. 50-70.

²³ For example, British Columbia's <u>Administrative Tribunals Act</u>, S.B.C. 2004, c. 45: ss. 58 and 59.

²⁴ Edmonton (City) v. Edmonton East, <u>2016 SCC 47</u> at para <u>78</u>.

²⁵ Judicial Review Procedure Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. J.1

²⁶ Morguard Properties Ltd. v. City of Winnipeg, 1983 CanLII 33, [1983] 2 SCR 493 at p. 509.

legislation, and when it has not for any reason clearly expressed itself, it has all the resources available to correct that inadequacy of expression. ...

c. <u>Purpose</u>: Courts should have regard to the purpose of the statute at issue when considering whether a limited appeal clause indicates a legislative intent to restrict judicial review. This is important where the statute has a remedial purpose such as consumer protection, and particularly where, as in the social assistance context, it is benefits-conferring. Such legislation requires purposive interpretation that should not limit parties from adequate adjudication of their entitlement to benefits they need to survive. Such statutes should not be interpreted to presumptively insulate from review decisions that can significantly impact an individual's dignity, health, security and life. In this context, if the legislature intended to limit parties' access to judicial review, it must do so explicitly.

B. Restricting judicial review of non-appealable decisions will detrimentally impact Ontario social assistance recipients in a manner inconsistent with the principle of responsive justification

- 13. Social assistance recipients live in deep poverty. To cover the cost of shelter and basic needs (such as food and clothing), a single individual receiving Ontario Works benefits gets \$733 per month, and a single individual receiving Ontario Disability Support Program benefits gets \$1,308 per month.²⁹ These amounts are well below the poverty line. Many individuals will have few (if any) alternative options for income support if social assistance is denied. Social assistance decisions can therefore have a serious impact on the health, dignity, and lives of poor individuals.
- 14. These are precisely the circumstances that this Court has identified as demanding heightened and responsive decisions from decision makers, or "responsive justification." In *Vavilov*, this Court clarified that the level of justification required for an administrative decision may depend on its impact on the affected party, particularly where that person is vulnerable.³⁰ The "principle of responsive justification" means that administrative decision makers are subject to a

²⁸ Rizzo & Rizzo Shoes Ltd. (Re), <u>1998 CanLII 837</u> (SCC), [1998] 1 SCR 27, at para. <u>36</u>; Legislation Act, 2006, S.O. 2006, c. 21, Sched. F at s. <u>64</u>.

 $^{^{29}}$ O. Reg. 134/98 (General) under the *OWA*, ss. $\underline{41}$ and $\underline{42}$; O. Reg. 222/98(General) under the *ODSPA*, ss. $\underline{30}$ and $\underline{31}$.

³⁰ Sossin, Lorne. "The Impact of Vavilov: Reasonableness and Vulnerability." *The Supreme Court Law Review: Osgoode's Annual Constitutional Cases Conference* 100. (2021).

higher duty of justification with respect to decisions that impact the life, liberty, dignity or livelihood of an individual.

- 15. This is because many administrative decision makers "are entrusted with an extraordinary degree of power over the lives of ordinary people, including the most vulnerable among us. The corollary to that power is a heightened responsibility on the part of administrative decision makers to ensure that their reasons demonstrate that they have considered the consequences of a decision and that those consequences are justified in light of the facts and law."³¹
- 16. An interpretation of limited appeal rights as restricting the review of non-appealable issues to "rare" cases undermines the principle of responsive justification. If vulnerable individuals can challenge unreasonable determinations of fact and mixed fact and law only in rare circumstances, then what is the point of responsive justification?
- 17. The Court of Appeal's approach could leave some vulnerable persons without <u>any</u> means to challenge decisions that seriously impact their lives. And this, in turn, would remove incentive for first-instance decision makers to adopt responsive justification in their decisions.
- 18. In the Ontario social assistance context, some, but not all front-line decisions can be appealed to the Social Benefits Tribunal ("the Tribunal"). Social assistance recipients can appeal decisions of the Tribunal to the Divisional Court "on a question of law". Accordingly, there are two categories of social assistance decisions that <u>cannot</u> be appealed to the Divisional Court and that must instead be judicially reviewed. These are: (i) Tribunal decisions raising errors of fact or mixed fact and law; and (ii) decisions by front-line decision-makers that cannot be appealed to the Tribunal. These decisions impact the dignity and/or life interests of social assistance recipients. They are subject to the principle of responsive justification, as articulated in *Vavilov*.

Decisions of the Tribunal concerning questions of fact or mixed fact and law

19. **Overpayment calculations:** When a social assistance recipient receives more assistance than they are entitled to, this is called an "overpayment". The recipient is ordinarily required to repay the overpayment. Recipients can appeal an overpayment calculation decision to the

-

³¹ Vavilov, supra at para. <u>135</u>.

Tribunal,³² but they cannot appeal calculation errors beyond that. This is because the Divisional Court has stated that the accuracy of overpayment calculations is a question of fact, not law.³³

- 20. As the Court of Appeal has recognized, social assistance overpayments "occur quite frequently, often for innocent reasons", and can impose "an enormous hardship on persons already living well below the poverty line". ³⁴ Overpayments can be very substantial and based on complex calculations with multiple opportunities for error. As a result, recipients who cannot judicially review an unreasonable overpayment calculation could experience devastating consequences.
- 21. For example, in *SBT 2108-03491 (Re)*³⁵, the appellant appealed an overpayment originally calculated at \$102,274.84 to the Tribunal, which found the calculations were off by \$82,447.28, causing the overpayment to be re-assessed at \$19,827.56. The overpayment arose because the appellant had started a business while receiving Ontario Disability Support Program benefits and there was substantial confusion as to which of her business expenses should be included in the calculation of her entitlement. In another example, *SBT 0304-03647R*³⁶, the appellant was assessed with an overpayment of \$143,440.10, concerning payments made over a ten year period. The Tribunal determined that the entire overpayment had been based on an erroneous determination that the appellant had been living with a spouse.
- 22. **Financial eligibility assessments:** The Divisional Court has stated that assessment of financial eligibility for social assistance is a question of mixed fact and law.³⁷ An individual who is deemed to be financially ineligible will receive no income support at all. Such determinations engage the individual's dignity and life interests: as Justice Arbour stated in her dissenting reasons in *Gosselin*, the refusal of social assistance can drive applicants "to resort to other demeaning and often dangerous means to ensure their survival." Financial eligibility decisions involve complex factual determinations that are vulnerable to the types of "failures of rationality internal to the reasoning process" identified in *Vavilov*.³⁹

³² *OWA*, s. <u>26</u>; *ODSPA*, s. <u>21</u>.

³³ Volnyansky v. Regional Municipality of Peel, 2014 ONSC 6193 at para. 6.

³⁴ Surdivall v. Ontario (Disability Support Program), 2014 ONCA 240 at para. 35.

³⁵ SBT 2108-03491(Re), 2022 ONSBT 4572.

³⁶ SBT 0304-03647R (14 August 2008; Reynolds), Book of Authorities, Tab 5.

³⁷ Filipska et al v. Ministry of Community and Social Services, 2017 ONSC 5462 at paras. 8-9.

³⁸ Gosselin v. Québec (Attorney General), 2002 SCC 84, at paras. 371-377.

³⁹ Vavilov, supra, at paras. 101-104.

- 23. For example, in *SBT 1902-00972 (Re)*, ⁴⁰ a disabled mother of three was refused income support on the basis that her alleged <u>spouse's</u> income and assets exceeded the allowable limit. On appeal, the Tribunal found that the appellant's male friend should not be considered her "spouse" and there was no compelling evidence that they had resided together during the relevant period. As a result, the male friend's income should not have been included in calculating the appellant's household income to determine her financial eligibility.
- 24. In some instances, it may be possible to pull extricable questions of law from these determinations. However, in other instances, there is simply a disconnect between the adjudicator's statement of the law and its statement of the facts and it is impossible to ascertain how the adjudicator arrived at the conclusion it did. Such cases would not withstand reasonableness review because they would contain a "fundamental gap" in reasoning, or be based on an "irrational chain of analysis". ⁴¹ However, they may not be appealable on a question of law.

Non-appealable decisions

- 25. Some decisions concerning social assistance cannot be appealed to the Tribunal at all.⁴² The Ontario Court of Appeal left unclear whether these types of decisions may be captured by the restriction of judicial reviews to "rare" circumstances where the statute at issue contains limited appeal rights. These non-appealable decisions can have a profound impact on individuals who rely on social assistance. For example:
 - a. <u>Discretionary benefits:</u> social assistance recipients can apply for additional "discretionary benefits" to cover the cost of dental services, medical travel and transportation, prosthetic devices including eyeglasses, and other items. ⁴³ These items or services can sometimes cost thousands of dollars per year and are often inaccessible for poor individuals. A decision refusing such benefits can impact a disabled recipient's mobility, access to necessary health care, and their quality of life. These decisions cannot be appealed and can only be judicially reviewed. ⁴⁴

⁴⁰ SBT 1902-00972 (Re), 2020 ONSBT 2238.

⁴¹ *Vavilov* at para. 96.

⁴² Non-appealable decisions are set out at *OWA* s. $\underline{26}$, O. Reg. 134/98 s. $\underline{68}$, *ODSPA* s. $\underline{21}$ and O. Reg 222/98 s. $\underline{57}$.

⁴³ O. Reg. 134/98 under the *OWA*, s. 59.

⁴⁴ OWA s. 26; ODSPA s. 21.

b. Decisions that deny a request for extension of time for internal review: When social assistance authorities deny or suspend benefits, social assistance recipients must request an internal review of that decision within 30 days. Vulnerable individuals sometimes miss that deadline due to health issues, precarious housing, poor literacy and language, and other barriers. The Ministry may grant an extension of time for internal review, 46 but if it refuses to do so, the recipient's appeal rights are extinguished. This is because internal review is a mandatory pre-requisite to a Tribunal appeal. The refusal to extend time cannot be appealed to the Tribunal. Judicial review is the only recourse available.

C. Conclusion

26. Restricting judicial review in statutory schemes that contain limited rights of appeal will create additional barriers for social assistance recipients, perpetuate their disadvantage, and threaten their dignity and access to the basic necessities they require to survive.

PART IV - COSTS

27. ISAC does not seek costs and asks that no costs be awarded against it.

PART V – ORDERS SOUGHT

28. ISAC takes no position on the outcome of this appeal.

ALL OF WHICH IS RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 29th day of August 2023.

Nabila F. Qureshi, Anu Bakshi,

Anna Rosenbluth

a-R

⁴⁵ O. Reg. 134/98 under the *OWA*, s. <u>69</u>; O. Reg. 222/98 under the *ODSPA*, s. <u>58</u>.

⁴⁶ O Reg 134/98, s. <u>69 (3)</u>; and O Reg 222/98, s. <u>58 (3)</u>.

⁴⁷ OWA, s. 28; ODSPA s. 23.

 $^{^{48}}$ *OWA* s. 27 (1), O Reg 134/98 at <u>s 68</u>; and *ODSPA* at s. 22 (1), O Reg 222/98 at s. 57 ; *Walsh v. Director*, 2012 ONCA 463.

PART VI — TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases	Paragraph References
Borowski v. Canada (Attorney General), <u>1989 CanLII 123</u> (SCC), [1989] 1 SCR 342	7
Canada (Minister of Citizenship and Immigration) v. Vavilov, 2019 SCC 65, [2019] 4 SCR 653.	1, 7, 10, 11, 14, 15, 18, 22, 24
Edmonton (City) v. Edmonton East, 2016 SCC 47	10, 12
Filipska et al v. Ministry of Community and Social Services, et al, 2017 ONSC 5462	22
Gosselin v. Québec (Attorney General), 2002 SCC 84, [2002] 4 SCR 429	22
Halifax (Regional Municipality) v. Nova Scotia (Human Rights Commission), 2012 SCC 10, [2012] 1 S.C.R. 364	7
Homex Realty & Development Co v. Wyoming (Village), 1980 CanLII 55 (SCC), [1980] 2 S.C.R. 1011	7
Immeubles Port Louis Ltée v. Lafontaine (Village), 1991 CanLII 82, [1991] S.C.J. No. 14	7
Mining Watch Canada v. Canada (Fisheries and Oceans), 2010 SCC 2	7
Morguard Properties Ltd. v. City of Winnipeg, <u>1983 CanLII 33</u> , [1983] 2 SCR 493	12
Rizzo & Rizzo Shoes Ltd. (Re), <u>1998 CanLII 837</u> (SCC), [1998] 1 SCR 27	12
SBT 0304-03647R (14 August 2008; Reynolds)	21
SBT 1902-00972 (Re), 2020 ONSBT 2238	23
SBT 2108-03491(Re), <u>2022 ONSBT 4572</u>	21
SBT 2205-01952R (8 June 2023; Henrie)	9
SBT 2208-03391R (5 May 2023; Van Delft)	9
Smith v. The Appeal Commission, <u>2023 MBCA 23</u>	8, 11
Strickland v. Canada (Attorney General), 2015 SCC 37	8
Surdivall v. Ontario (Disability Support Program), 2014 ONCA 240	20
Volnyansky v. Regional Municipality of Peel, <u>2014 ONSC 6193</u>	19

Walsh v. Director, 2012 ONCA 463	25
Yatar v. TD Insurance Meloche Monnex, 2022 ONCA 446	6, 8
Secondary Source	
Sossin, Lorne. "The Impact of Vavilov: Reasonableness and Vulnerability." The Supreme Court Law Review: Osgoode's Annual Constitutional Cases Conference 100. (2021),	14

Statute, Regulation, Rule, etc.	Section, Rule, Etc.
Administrative Tribunals Act, S.B.C. 2004, c. 45	<u>58</u> , <u>59</u>
Judicial Review Procedure Act, RSO 1990, c J.1	s. <u>2(1)</u>
Loi sur la procédure de révision judiciaire, LRO 1990, c J.1	art. <u>2(1)</u>
Legislation Act, 2006, S.O. 2006, c. 21, Sched. F	s. <u>64</u>
Loi de 2006 sur la législation, LO 2006, c 21, ann F	art. <u>64</u>
Ontario Disability Support Program Act, 1997, S.O. 1997, c. 25, Sched. B	ss. <u>21</u> , <u>22</u> (1), <u>23</u> , <u>31</u> (1)
Loi de 1997 sur le programme ontarien de soutien aux personnes handicapees, L.O. 1997, chap. 25, annexe B	art. <u>21</u> , <u>22</u> (1), <u>23</u> , <u>31</u> (1)
Ontario Works Act, 1997, S.O. 1997, c. 25, Sched. A	ss. <u>26</u> , <u>27</u> (1), <u>28</u> , <u>36</u> (1)
Loi de 1997 sur le programme Ontario au travail, L.O. 1997, chap. 25, annexe A	art. <u>26</u> , <u>27</u> (1), <u>28</u> <u>36</u> (1)
O Reg 134/98 under the <i>Ontario Works Act</i> , 1997, S.O. 1997, c. 25, Sched. A	ss. <u>41</u> , <u>42</u> , <u>59</u> , <u>68</u> , <u>69</u> (3)
Règl. de l'Ont. 134/98 en vertu de la <i>Loi de 1997 sur le programme Ontario au travail</i> , L.O. 1997, chap. 25, annexe A	art. <u>41</u> , <u>42</u> , <u>59</u> , <u>68</u> , <u>69</u> (3)
O Reg 222/98 under the <i>Ontario Disability Support Program Act</i> , 1997, S.O. 1997, c. 25, Sched. B	ss. <u>30</u> , <u>31</u> , <u>57</u> , <u>58</u> (3)
Règl. de l'Ont. 222/98 en vertu de la <i>Loi de 1997 sur le programme</i> ontarien de soutien aux personnes handicapees, L.O. 1997, chap. 25, annexe B	art. <u>30</u> , <u>31</u> , <u>57</u> , <u>58</u> (3)